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(  March 20, 1995 )

Bef ore GARWOOD, HI G3 NBOTHAM and DAVIS, Circuit Judges.”’
GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

Def endant - appel | ant Frederick Wtherspoon (Wtherspoon)
appeals his convictions, followng a jury trial, of 1 count of
possession with intent to distribute 1753 grans of cocai ne base in
violation of 21 U S C 8 841(a)(1) and 1 count of conspiracy to

possess with intent to distribute the sane quantity of cocai ne base

Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions that
have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases on
the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess
expense on the public and burdens on the | egal profession.”
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



inviolation of 21 U.S.C. 8§ 841(a)(1) and 21 U.S.C. 8 846. Inthis
appeal , Wtherspoon contends that he was deni ed the counsel of his
choice in violation of the Sixth Arendnent, that the district court
failed to conduct de novo review of the magi strate judge's report
reconmmendi ng denial of his notion to suppress, that the district
court erroneously denied his notion to suppress, that the evidence
was insufficient to support his convictions, that the district
court erred in denying his notion to dismss based on selective
prosecution and deni al of equal protection, that the district court
erred in denying his notions seeking discovery and the services of
an expert witness to aid in his notion to dismss, and that he was
entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his notion to dism ss and his
di scovery notions. W affirm
Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow

At approximately 8:00 a.m on Decenber 5, 1992, Monroe,
Loui si ana police detective Eugene Ellis (EIlis), a nenber of the
Metro Narcotics Unit, received a tip from a Dallas, Texas |aw
enforcenent officer that two black nen suspected of possessing
narcotics would be arriving at the Mdnroe Regional Airport aboard
an Anerican Eagle flight from Dallas at 9:50 a.m The Dall as
officer also provided Ellis wth baggage claim nunbers for three
pi eces of checked |l uggage. After receiving this information, Ellis
recruited several other officers and went to the airport to await
the arrival of the designated flight fromDallas. At the Mnroe
airport, Ellis confirmed that the baggage cl ai mnunbers he received
from the Dallas officer matched |uggage that was on the plane

arriving from Dal | as.



After the flight arrived from Dallas, Ellis and the other
of ficers observed the passengers depl ane. Ellis testified that
there were only seven passengers on the plane and that only two of
t he seven were black. The officers observed these two nen, |ater
identified as Wtherspoon and co-defendant M chael Bell (Bell),
wal king into the termnal |obby. Ellis testified that Wt herspoon
had several itens of carry-on |uggage and that Bell was carrying a
canera bag. Ellis noticed that Bell and Wtherspoon separated in
the | obby, and he thought that they were nervous based on their
erratic novenents and the fact that they maintained eye contact.
Meanwhile, Ellis had arranged for the three pieces of checked
| uggage to be renoved fromthe pl ane and sniffed by a narcotics dog
prior to being placed on the conveyor belt for pick-up. Wile the
narcotics dog was sniffing the checked |uggage, the officers
decided to approach the suspects and interview them As the
of ficers approached Bell, he ran out of the termnal, got into an
aut onobi l e driven by another man,! and fl ed.

Janes Purvis (Purvis), an investigator wth the Metro
Narcotics Unit, approached Wtherspoon, identified hinself, and
asked himto cone to the security office. Wtherspoon agreed. I n
the security office, Purvis told himthat they were conducting an
i nvestigation and that he was not under arrest but would be read
his Mranda rights for his own protection. Wtherspoon deni ed that

he was travelling with any narcotics and gave Purvis consent to

. The governnent mai ntained that the driver was co-defendant
Ceorge Ray Lee (Lee). Lee's defense at trial was that he was not
the driver of the autonobile. The jury convicted Wtherspoon but
acquitted Lee.



search all of his luggage. As Purvis started searching his carry-
on |l uggage, Wtherspoon told himthat there was a small anount of
mari huana in one of his carry-on bags. Wtherspoon admtted that
the carry-on | uggage belonged to him After the discovery of the
mar i huana, Wt herspoon was placed under arrest. At this point,
Wt herspoon revoked permssion to search the three pieces of
checked | uggage, stating that the | uggage did not belong to hi mand
that the officers would have to get Bell's perm ssion to search it.
At the suppression hearing, Wtherspoon again deni ed ownership of
t he checked |l uggage but testified that Bell had agreed to put one
of Wtherspoon's suits in his suitcase.

The drug dog did not alert to the three pieces of checked
| uggage outside the termnal. Wen the checked | uggage was brought
i nside for another attenpt, the drug dog indicated an interest in
one piece of luggage but did not go into full alert. After the
di scovery of the marihuana, the three pieces of checked | uggage
were placed on the airport x-ray machine, and Ellis testified that
he noticed four irregul arly shaped objects consistent with the type
of packagi ng used to conceal crack cocaine. Wtherspoon was then
transported to the Quachita Parish jail to be booked for possession
of mari huana.

The three pieces of checked luggage were taken to the Metro
Narcotics Unit nmain office and sniffed by another drug dog. This
dog fully alerted to the piece of l|uggage containing the four
irregularly shaped objects. At this point, the officers obtained
a search warrant for the three pieces of checked | uggage. Wen the

of ficers opened the suitcase to which the drug dog had alerted,
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they discovered 1753 grans of crack cocaine sprinkled wth soap
powder and wapped in plastic bags. The suitcase in which the
cocai ne was found had two identification | abels. The first tag, a
handwitten Anerican Airlines | abel that passengers place on their
| uggage, contained the name Fred Wtherspoon and listed a Los
Angel es, California address. The second tag, a baggage cl ai m| abel
used by airlines for identification purposes, listed the owner's
nanme as Fred Wat her spoon.

At an August 6, 1993 detention hearing, at which Wtherspoon
was represented by counsel (Peter Edwards), FBI agent Billy Chesser
(Chesser) testified that he attenpted to speak to Wtherspoon at
the Quachita Parish jail on Decenber 7, 1992. Chesser testified
that he asked Wtherspoon if he wanted to nake a statenent, and
t hat when Wt herspoon declined, he departed wi t hout sayi ng anyt hi ng
else to him Chesser stated that he did not recall whether
Wt her spoon was represented by counsel when he attenpted to obtain
a statenment fromhimon Decenber 7, 1992. At sone point, attorney
Laval | e B. Sal onon ( Sal onon) was retained to represent Wt herspoon.
After his arrest but before his indictnent, Wtherspoon repeatedly
contacted Chesser and Ellis asking for an opportunity to speak with
t hem about his case. As a result of these contacts, the FB
contacted Sal onon, who insisted that he wanted to be present at any
interview. The governnent asserts that when the agents inforned
Wt her spoon that Sal onon wanted to be present for any interview, he
responded that he had not retai ned Sal onon, that sonebody el se had
made the arrangenent, and that Sal onon did not speak for him

At the detention hearing, Chesser testified that the United



States Attorney's officeinstructed himto i nformWtherspoon that,
if he wanted to speak with the FBI, he needed to wite a letter
stating that he was no | onger represented by counsel. Wtherspoon

then wote and distributed a |etter addressed to Sal onbn, stating

inpart that "I Fred Wtherspoon which [sic] to wdraw|[sic] you as
counsel representing ne inny case. . . . This decision is based
on nunerous factors. However, | feel you are indeed a good

attorney, your schedule is too conplicated to accomopdate ny
situation." After discharging Sal onon, Wt herspoon spoke with | aw
enforcenent officials wthout counsel present. The only
information received then or thereafter from Wtherspoon was
excul patory in nature; no evidence of any such statenents were
introduced at Wtherspoon's trial. After Sal onon was di scharged,
Pet er Edwards was appointed to represent Wtherspoon on July 29,
1993. Two nonths |ater, John W Focke was appointed to represent
Wt her spoon when Edwards becane ill

On July 28, 1994, a federal grand jury returned a 2-count
i ndi ctment charging Wtherspoon with 1 count of possession with
intent to distribute 1753 grans of cocaine base in violation of 21
U S C 8§ 841(a) and 1 count of conspiracy to possess withintent to
distribute the sane quantity of cocaine in violation of 21 U S. C
8§ 841(a) and 21 U.S.C. 8 846. The jury convicted Wtherspoon of
both counts.? On April 14, 1994, the district court sentenced

Wt her spoon to 235 nonths i nprisonnent, 5 years supervised rel ease,

2 Lee and Bell were naned in count two of the indictnment. The
jury acquitted Lee. Bell was apprehended at a |later date, tried,
and convi ct ed.



and inposed a special assessnment of $100. Wt herspoon filed a
tinmely notice of appeal.
Di scussi on

Ri ght to Counse

Wt herspoon's first point of error is that the district court
erred in denying his notion for a newtrial based on the violation
of his Sixth Amendnent right to counsel. He alleges that the FB
violated his Sixth Anendnent right to counsel of his choice by
telling himthat, if he wanted to discuss his case with them he
woul d have to di scharge Sal onon, his retained attorney. Although
Wt her spoon was wel|l aware of the facts underlying his discharge of
Sal onon, * he raised this issue for the first time in his nmotion for
a new trial filed on Decenber 23, 1993, one week after the jury
found himguilty on both counts.

"No procedural principle is nore famliar to this Court than
that a constitutional right . . . may be forfeited in crimnal as
well as civil cases by the failure to nmake tinely assertion of the
right before a tribunal having jurisdiction to determne it."
United States v. dano, 113 S.Ct. 1770, 1776 (1993) (citation and
internal quotation nmarks omtted). In A ano, the Suprenme Court
posited the three requirenents for showing plain error under
Federal Rule of Crimnal Procedure 52(b). In order to obtain
relief under the plain error standard, a defendant nust show t hat

(1) the district court deviated froma legal rule in the absence of

3 Chesser's testinony at the detention hearing sufficiently
elicited the relevant facts surroundi ng the di scharge of Sal onon.
Mor eover, because Wt herspoon hinself discharged Sal onon, he was
clearly aware of the events leading up to this decision
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a waiver, (2) the error was clear or obvious, and (3) the error
af fected substantial rights and influenced the district court
proceedings. 1d. at 1777-78. Even if all three requirenents are
satisfied, "appellate courts possess the discretion to decline to
correct errors which do not “seriously affect the fairness,
integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings.'" United
States v. Calverley, 37 F.3d 160, 162 (5th Cr. 1994) (en banc),
cert. denied, 1995 U S L. W 36679 (Feb. 27 1995) (citations
omtted). Application of the plain error standard presupposes the
absence of a waiver, which the Court distinguished from a
forfeiture: "Wlereas forfeitureis the failure to make the tinely
assertion of aright, waiver is the "intentional relinquishnent or
abandonnent of a known right.'" dano, 113 S.C. at 1777 (citing
Johnson v. Zerbst, 58 S.C. 1019, 1023 (1938)). This distinction
is inmportant in determ ning whether an error within the neani ng of
Rul e 52(b) has occurred. "Mere forfeiture, as opposed to waiver,
does not extinguish an “error' under Rule 52(b)." 1d. In other
wor ds, the waiver of a known right extinguishes the error and thus
renders it unreviewable on appeal. Calverley, 37 F.3d at 162.

W hold that Wtherspoon's failure to raise this argunent
until after the guilty verdict constitutes at |least a forfeiture.
Accordingly, our reviewis limted to plain error. The right to
counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Anendnent does not include an
absolute right to counsel of one's choice. Yohey v. Collins, 985
F.2d 222, 228 (5th Gr. 1993); United States v. Paternostro, 966
F.2d 907, 912 (5th Cr. 1992). Nevertheless, a crimnal defendant

has a strong interest in being able to obtain counsel of his own
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choosi ng. United States v. Snyder 707 F.2d 139, 145 & n.5 (5th
Cr. 1983). W hold that Wtherspoon has failed to satisfy the
pl ain error standard. In support of our conclusion, we observe
that the governnent obtained only excul patory information during
the interviews with Wtherspoon in the absence of counsel (and no
evi dence resulting therefromwas introduced at trial).* Moreover,
according to the governnent, Wtherspoon stated that a third party
retai ned Sal onon to represent him and that Sal onon did not speak
for him Because W therspoon has failed to show how the
governnent's conduct affected his substantial rights or influenced
the district court proceedings, we find that his argunent that he
was denied the counsel of his choice in violation of the Sixth
Amendnent does not present plain error; and we accordi ngly decline
to review it since it was first raised after verdict and no good
cause appears for the failure to raise it earlier.
1. Magistrate Judge's Report

Wt herspoon next argues that the district court did not
conduct a proper de novo review of the magistrate judge's report
reconmendi ng deni al of his notion to suppress. On October 7, 1993,
the magi strate judge held an evidentiary hearing on Wtherspoon's
nmotion to suppress and filed a report on Decenber 1, 1993. On the
sane day, the district court signed an order adopting the
magi strate judge's report and denied Wtherspoon's notion to
suppr ess. At the tinme the district court initially adopted the

magi strate judge's report, the transcript of the evidentiary

4 Wt her spoon has not alleged that the governnent obtained any
i ncul patory informati on fromthese contacts.
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heari ng had not been prepared. On Decenber 9, 1993, W therspoon
filed various objections to the magi strate judge's Decenber 1, 1993
report and noved for a continuance to permt the district court to
conduct a de novo review.

After a magistrate judge files a report and reconmendati on,
the district court "shall nmake a de novo determ nation of those
portions of the report or specified proposed findings or
recommendations to which objection is nade." 28 U S.C 8
636(b) (1) (0. At the beginning of the first day of trial on
Decenber 13, 1993, the district court acknowl edged that it had
adopted the magi strate judge's report prematurely, stated that it
had subsequently revi ewed Wt herspoon's objections and the record,
and stated that it still concurred in the denial of the notion to
suppress. The district court therefore denied Wtherspoon's notion
for a continuance. W hold that the district court's
acknow edgnent that it prematurely adopted the magistrate judge's
report and its reconsideration of Wtherspoon's objections and
review of the full record of the suppression hearing cured any
error.>®
I11. Mdtion to Suppress

Wt herspoon next argues that the district court erred in
denying his notion to suppress, alleging that he was illegally

detained at the airport, that his consent to search the carry-on

5 Wt her spoon asserts, w thout support in the record (or
otherwi se), that the transcript of the evidentiary hearing was
not avail abl e on Decenber 13, 1993. However, the record reflects
that the transcript was certified by the court reporter on
Decenber 7, 1993 and filed with the district court on Decenber

10, 1993.
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| uggage was not given freely and voluntarily, and that the search
warrant for the checked | uggage was i nvalid because it was based on
the evidence obtained as a result of the illegal detention and
invalid consent. In reviewing a district court's ruling on a
notion to suppress, we review questions of |aw de novo. Uni ted
States v. Maldonado, 735 F.2d 809, 814 (5th Cr. 1984). W
consi der the evidence in the |ight nost favorable to the prevailing
party and accept the district court's factual findings unless
clearly erroneous or influenced by an incorrect view of the |aw.
United States v. Lanford, 838 F.2d 1351, 1354 (5th Cr. 1988).

Wt herspoon testified at the suppression hearing that the
pi ece of checked | uggage i n which the cocai ne was found bel onged to
Bell. Based on this testinony, the nagistrate judge determ ned,
and the district court agreed, that Wtherspoon had no standing to
chal l enge the search of the checked |uggage under the Fourth
Amendnent . It is well established that a defendant bears the
burden of establishing standing to challenge a search under the
Fourth Amendnent . United States v. Pierce, 959 F.2d 1297, 1303
(5th Gr.), cert. denied, 113 S C. 621 (1992). In order to
establ i sh standi ng, a defendant nust showthat he has "a privacy or
property interest in the prem ses searched or the itens seized
which is sufficient to justify a “reasonable expectation of
privacy' therein." United States v. Judd, 889 F.2d 1410, 1413 (5th
Cr. 1989), cert. denied, 110 S . C. 1494 (1990) (citations
omtted). Here, Wtherspooninitially gave the officers consent to
search the checked |uggage but revoked his consent after the

di scovery of the marihuana in his carry-on |uggage and asserted
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that the checked |uggage belonged to Bell. Accordi ngly,
Wt her spoon cannot show a privacy interest in the checked |uggage
sufficient to establish standing. See Pierce, 959 F.2d at 1303
(hol di ng that defendant had no standing to chall enge search of bag
contai ni ng cocai ne where he denied ownership of the bag, denied
ever being in possession of the bag, and continually tried to
di stance hinself from the bag during trial). Alternatively, we
hold that W therspoon abandoned any privacy interest that he may
have had i n the suitcase by di sclai mng owershi p and possessi on of
it. Therefore, we reject his contention that the presence of his
suit in the suitcase provides himw th standing. See, e.g., United
States v. Alvarez, 6 F.3d 287 (5th Gr. 1993), cert. denied, 114
S.C. 1384 (1994) (holding that a defendant has no standing to
conplain of a search of property that he has voluntarily
abandoned); United States v. Piaget, 915 F.2d 138, 140 (5th Cr.
1990) ("Once a bag has been abandoned, and the abandonnent is not
a product of inproper police conduct, the defendant cannot
chal | enge the subsequent search of the bag.").

Even if Wtherspoon had standing to chall enge the search of
t he suitcase, we would still affirmthe district court's denial of
his notion to suppress on the ground that the search did not run
af oul of the Fourth Amendnent. Wtherspoon first argues that the
officers illegally detained him at the Monroe airport. We
di sagr ee. "Whet her a suspect has actually been " seized for
purposes of the fourth anendnment is determned by viewi ng " al
ci rcunst ances surroundi ng the i ncident,' and det erm ni ng whet her "a

reasonabl e person would have believed that he was not free to
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leave.'" United States v. Galberth, 846 F.2d 983, 991 (5th Gr.),
cert. denied, 109 S.C. 167 (1988) (quoting United States v.
Mendenhal |, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 1877 (1980)). The district court,
adopting the magi strate judge's report, assuned that the airport
questioning of Wtherspoon constituted a seizure within the anbit
of the Fourth Amendnent but held that the officers had reasonabl e
suspicion to detain him It is clear that wuntil Wtherspoon
admtted he had mari huanasQt hus establishing probable cause for
arrestsQhi s detention anounted to no nore than a Terry stop. Terry
v. Ohio, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968); United States v. Butler, 988 F.2d
537, 541 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 114 S.C. 413 (1993). W hold
that the following factors denonstrate that the officers had
reasonabl e suspicion to initially stop and question Wtherspoon at
the airport: the information provided by the Dallas |aw
enforcenent officer; the fact that this tip was confirnmed by the
presence of the described individuals on the designated flight; the
presence of |uggage on the designated flight matchi ng the baggage
claimnunbers given to Ellis by the Dallas officer; the fact that
Wt herspoon's travel | i ng conpani on Bel |l fl ed when approached by t he
of ficers; and the nervousness exhi bited by Wt herspoon and Bell in
the airport termnal. See, e.g., Butler, 988 F.2d at 541 (hol di ng
that officers had reasonable suspicion to detain defendant at
airport where one-way ticket was paid for with cash by woman who
did not board flight, ticket was issued in another person's nane,
and def endant initially denied having identification but
subsequently produced identification card); United States v.

Hanson, 801 F.2d 757, 763 (5th G r. 1986) (finding that airport
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detenti on was supported by reasonabl e suspicion where defendants
appeared nervous in airport termnal, were travelling under assuned
nanmes, and paid cash for one-way tickets to Mam).

W t her spoon next asserts that his consent to search his carry-
on | uggage was not voluntary. Again, we disagree. Based on the
officer's testinony and the district court's adoption of the
magi strate judge's finding that Wtherspoon's testinony was
i ncredi ble, we hold that Wtherspoon voluntarily consented to the
search of his carry-on | uggage. See, e.g., United States v. Ponce,
8 F.3d 989 (5th Gr. 1993); United States v. Richard, 994 F. 2d 244
(5th Gr. 1993). Finally, Wtherspoon argues that the search
warrant for the checked |uggage was based on the illegal airport
detention and the illegal search of the carry-on bag which yiel ded
t he mari huana. Because we uphold the airport detention and the
search of Wtherspoon's carry-on bag, we also reject this
argunent . ®

V. Sufficiency of the Evidence

6 The officers searched three pieces of checked | uggage
pursuant to the search warrant. The governnent, however, only
sought to introduce evidence fromthe suitcase in which the
cocai ne was found. Accordingly, the district court did not
consider the validity of the search of the two other checked
bags. Likewise, we limt our analysis to the search of the
suitcase in which the cocai ne was di scover ed.

We observe that the search warrant was adequately supported
by probabl e cause based on the discovery of marihuana in
Wt herspoon's carry-on bag, the information provided by the
Dall as officer, the presence of four irregularly shaped objects
in the suitcase simlar in appearance to packaging often used to
conceal crack cocaine, and the dog's alert to the suitcase
containing the suspicious objects. See United States v. Seals,
987 F.2d 1102, 1106 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 155
(1993) (holding that a drug dog sniff is not search for Fourth
Amendnent pur poses).
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Wt herspoon's fourth point of error is that the evidence is
i nsufficient to support his convictions because it was
circunstantial and did not exclude every reasonabl e hypot hesis of
i nnocence. In reviewing challenges to the sufficiency of the
evi dence, we reviewthe evidence, whether direct or circunstantial,
inthe light nost favorable to the jury verdict. United States v.
Nguyen, 28 F.3d 477, 480 (5th Cr. 1994). All credibility
determ nations and reasonable inferences are to be resolved in
favor of the verdict. 1d. W hold the evidence sufficient if we
conclude that a rational trier of fact could have found therefrom
the essential elenments of the crine beyond a reasonabl e doubt.
United States v. Villasenor, 894 F.2d 1422, 1425 (5th Cr. 1990).
Contrary to Wtherspoon's assertion, "[i]t is not necessary that
t he evi dence excl ude every reasonabl e hypot hesi s of i nnocence or be
whol Iy inconsistent with every concl usion except that of guilt."”
United States v. Bell, 678 F.2d 547, 549 (5th Gr. 1982) (en banc),
aff'd on ot her grounds, 103 S.Ct. 2398 (1983). Based on our review
of the evidence presented to the jury, we hold that the governnent
produced sufficient evidence to support both of Wtherspoon's
convi ctions.
I V. Remaining Argunents

Wt herspoon's remaining three points of error all relate to
all egations of racial aninus in his prosecution. Wtherspoon filed
three pretrial notions as part of this racial aninmus argunent.
Wt hout conducting a hearing, the magistrate judge recommended
denyi ng these notions. Adopting the nmagi strate judge's report, the

district court denied the notions. Wtherspoon raises three points
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of error based on the district court's denial of these notions.
First, Wtherspoon conplains of the district court's denial of his
motion to dismss the indictnent based on a denial of equal
protection in sentencing and a claim of selective prosecution.
Second, he challenges the district court's denial of his notionto
retain an expert witness in crimnology and its denial of his
nmotion for discovery to assist himin his claimthat he was deni ed
equal protection and was sel ectively prosecuted. Third, he argues
that he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his notion to
di sm ss. These three challenges are slight variations on the
argunent that, because crack cocaine use is nore preval ent anong
bl acks and powder cocaine use is nore preval ent anong whites, the
Sent enci ng Gui del i nes for cocai ne of fenses vi ol at e equal protection
i n providing higher puni shnent for possession of crack cocai ne than
for a simlar anmount of powder cocai ne. Wtherspoon concedes that
this Grcuit has held that this distinction does not viol ate equal
protection. United States v. Fisher, 22 F.3d 574, 579-80 (5th
Cr.), cert. denied, 115 S. C. 529 (1994); United States v. Watson,
953 F.2d 895, 897 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 1989 (1992).
Nevert hel ess, Wtherspoon argues that the district court erred in
denying his pretrial notions.

The district court, adopting the nmagistrate judge's report,
rejected Wtherspoon's equal protection argunent based on the
Sentencing Quidelines as prematurely raised in a notion to dism ss
the indictnent. In any event, as stated above, a direct equal
protection chall enge on the sentencing distinctions is precluded by

Fi sher and Wat son (and Wt her spoon has proffered nothing to suggest
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and indeed has not alleged that the guidelines provisions were
adopted from racial notives). In his notion to dismss the
indictment on the basis of selective prosecution, Wtherspoon
argued that "a systematic schene exi sts between the | ocal and state
narcotics units and the Federal Bureau of Investigations [sic],
where by mutual consent and agreenent bl ack defendants all egedly
engaged in cocai ne base offenses are prosecuted in federal court
sol ely because of the race of the defendants and the fact that in
cases involving cocaine base, the penalties in federal court are
much nore severe." The district court, adopting the magistrate
judge's report, alsorejected this argunent, holding that he fail ed
to establish a prim facie case.

We agree. The governnent has broad discretion in determning
whom to prosecute. Wayte v. United States, 105 S. Ct. 1524, 1530
(1985); United States v. Sparks, 2 F.3d 574, 580 (5th Cr. 1993),
cert. denied, 114 S. C. 720, 899, 1548 (1994). A prima facie case
of selective prosecution requires the defendant to showthat he was
singled out for prosecution while others simlarly situated who
commtted the sane crinme were not prosecuted. Sparks, 2 F.3d at
580. He nust also show that the governnent's discrimnatory
selection of him for prosecution was invidious or done in bad
faith. 1d. The only evidence proffered by Wtherspoon in support
of his selective prosecution argunment was a February 1993 Aneri can
Bar Association report showng that nationally drug arrests are
increasing at a nuch faster rate anong mnorities and posi ngsQbut
not answeringsQ the question whether the increase resulted from

i ncreased involvenent with drugs anong mnorities or selective

17



prosecuti on. Because the ABA report fails to establish either
el ement of a prinma facie case of selective prosecution, we reject
Wt her spoon's argunent. Moreover, as the district court noted
this report has limted, if indeed any, relevance to this
prosecuti on.

Lastly, Wtherspoon argues that the district court erred in
denying his notions to retain an expert witness and to pursue
di scovery to aid in his notion to dismss, and he contends that the
district court should have held an evidentiary hearing on his
nmotion to dismss. "In order for a defendant to di scover docunents
relevant to his selective prosecution defense, he first nust
establish a colorable claim of selective prosecution.” United
States v. Kahl, 583 F.2d 1351, 1355 (5th Cr. 1978). Because
Wt her spoon has not established a prinma facie case of selective
prosecution, we hold that he was not entitled to the requested
di scovery or to retain the services of an expert wtness.
Li kewi se, we hold that he was not entitled to an evidentiary
hearing on his notion to dism ss based on equal protection and
sel ective prosecution grounds. See United States v. Jennings, 724
F.2d 436, 445 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, 104 S. Ct. 2682 (1984)
(hol di ng that defendant nust establish reasonabl e doubt about the
constitutionality of his prosecution in order to obtain an
evidentiary hearing on a claimof selective prosecution).

Concl usi on
For the foregoing reasons, Wtherspoon's convictions are

AFFI RVED.
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